
From: Cary, G. Keith </O=SAO20/OU=CACJIS/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=GKC2460>
To: Callanan, Richard

Aloia, Nancy K
Carlin, John S.

CC:
Date: 10/18/2010 1:30:38 PM

Subject: ?FW: New Publication Announcement from Judge Mark King Leban, Chair, FCEC Publication Committee

Rick
Please make sure this gets out to all Civil Judges, Magistrates, senior judges, or others.
Thanks
 
G. Keith Cary
239-
From: Melissa Henderson [mailto:HendersM@flcourts.org]
Sent: Thursday, October 14, 2010 12:10 PM
To: Trial Court Chief Judges; Trial Court Administrators
Cc: Susan Leseman; OSCA-JUDED; Blan Teagle
Subject: New Publication Announcement from Judge Mark King Leban, Chair, FCEC Publication Committee
 
To:       Chief Judges and Trial Court Administrators
 
From:  Judge Mark King Leban, Chair, Florida Court Education Council’s Publications Committee
 
Re:       New Publication: Residential Foreclosure Bench Book
 
The Publications Committee of the Florida Court Education Council is pleased to announce the posting of the
Residential Foreclosure Bench Book in the Court Education Resource Library on the Florida State Courts intranet.  The
Residential Foreclosure Bench Book was written by the Eleventh Circuit’s Judge Jennifer Bailey and Assistant General
Counsel Doris Bermudez-Goodrich.  Used for a recent judicial education course for judges assigned to hear foreclosure
cases, this bench book presents readers with the nuts and bolts of current foreclosure law and procedures.
 
In addition to this bench book, the Court Education Resource Library, developed by OSCA’s Court Education Section
and Publications Unit, contains a plethora of judicial education materials, among them, court publications
(benchguides, bench books, toolkits, and case summaries); court education program materials; and other useful
resources (a catalog of books, manuals, and other publications, including materials by state and national
organizations).
 
A PDF of the bench book is attached, but you can also access it from the Court Education Resource Library, at
https://intranet.flcourts.org/osca/Judicial Education/Library/librarymain.shtml   (As the bench book will be
periodically updated to reflect changes in foreclosure law and procedure, please visit the site for update notifications.)
 
Please share this information with judges and court staff who are handling residential mortgage foreclosure cases.
 
If you have any questions, contact Susan Leseman, OSCA Publications Attorney, at (850) 922-5085 or
lesemans@flcourts.org
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Introduction

1. Foreclosure is the enforcement of a security interest by judicial sale of

collateral. All mortgages shall be foreclosed of equity. § 702.01, Fla. Stat. (2010).

2. Definitions:

(a) Mortgage: any written instrument securing the payment of money or

advances including liens to secure payment of assessments for condominiums,

cooperatives and homeowners' associations. § 702.09, Fla. Stat. (2010).

A mortgage creates only a specific lien against the property; it is not a

conveyance of legal title or of the right of possession. § 697.02, Fla. Stat. (2010); Fla.

Nat'!. Bank & Trust Co. ofMiami v. Brown, 47 So. 2d 748 (1949).

(b) Mortgagee: refers to the lender; the secured party or holder of the

mortgage lien. § 721.82(6), Fla. Stat. (2010).

(c) Mortgagor: refers to the obligor or borrower; the individual or entity who

has assumed the obligation secured by the mortgage lien. § 721.82(7), Fla. Stat.

(2010). The mortgagor holds legal title to the mortgaged property. Hoffman v.

Seme~ 316 So. 2d 649, 652 (Fla. 4th DCA 1975).

3. To foreclosure the mortgage lien and extinguish eqUities of redemption,

secured parties must file a civil action. § 45.0315, Fla. Stat. (2010).

Lender's Right to Foreclose

1. Constitutional obligation to uphold mortgage contract and right to foreclose. F.

S. A. Const. Art 1 § 10.

(a) Right unaffected by defendant's misfortune. Lee County Bank v. Christian

Mut. Found., Inc., 403 So. 2d 446, 449 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981); Morris v. Waite, 160 So.

516, 518 (Fla. 1935).

(b) Right not contingent on mortgagor's health, good fortune, ill fortune, or the

regularity of his employment. Home Owners'Loan Corp. v. Wilkes, 178 So. 161, 164

(Fla. 1938).

(c) Contract impairment or imposition of moratorium is prohibited by court. Lee

County Bank v. Christian Mut. Foundation, Inc., 403 So. 2d 446, 448 (Fla. 1981).
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Default

1. Right to foreclosure accrues upon the mortgagor's default.

2. Basis for default:

(a) mortgagor's failure to tender mortgage payments; or

(b) impairment of security, including failure to pay taxes or maintain casualty

insurance.

Acceleration

1. Acceleration - gives the mortgagee the authority to declare the entire mortgage

obligation due and payable immediately upon default.

2. Mortgage Acceleration Clause - confers a contract right upon the note or

mortgage holder which he may elect to enforce upon default. David v. Sun Fed. Sav.

& Loan Assn., 461 So. 2d 93, 94 (Fla. 1984).

(a) Absent acceleration clause, lender can only sue for amount in default. Kirk

v. Van Petten, 21 So. 286 (Fla. 1896).

3. Commencement - upon delivery of written notice of default to the mortgagor;

prior notice is not required unless it is a contractual term. Millett v.

Pere0 418 So. 2d 1067 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982); Fowler v. First Sav. & Loan Assn. of

Defuniak Springs, 643 So. 2d 3D, 34 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994), (filing of complaint is notice

of acceleration).

4. Pre-acceleration - mortgagor may defeat foreclosure by the payment of

arrearages, thereby reinstating the mortgage. Pici v. First Union Nat1. Bank of

Florida, 621 So. 2d 732, 733 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993).

Statute of Limitations

1. Five year statute of limitations period - applies specifically to mortgage

foreclosure actions. § 95.11(2)(c), Fla. Stat. (2010); Farmers & Merch. Bank v.

Riede, 565 So. 2d 883, 885 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990).

2. Commencement of limitations period:

(a) General rule - commencement upon accrual of the cause of action; this

occurs when the last elementof the cause of action is satisfied (for example, default).
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§ 95.031(1), Fla. Stat. (2010); Maggio v. Dept. ofLabor & Employment Sec., 910 So.

2d 876, 878 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005).

(b) A note or other written instrument - when the first written demand for

payment occurs. Ruh/ v. Perry, 390 So. 2d 353, 357 (Fla. 1980).

(c) Oral loan payable on demand - commencement upon demand for payment.

Mosher v. Anderson, 817 So. 2d 812, 813 (Fla. 2002).

3. Tolling of the limitations period - acknowledgment of the debt or partial loan

payments subsequent to the acceleration notice toll the statute of limitations. §

95.051(1)(f), Fla. Stat. (2010); Cadle Company v. McCartha, 920 So. 2d 144, 145

(Fla.5th DCA 2006).

(a) Tolling effect - starts the running anew of the limitations period on the

debt. Wester v. Rigdon, 110 So. 2d 470, 474 (Fla. 1st DCA 1959).

Jurisdiction

1. Court's judicial authority over real property based on in rem jurisdiction.

2. Two part test to establish in rem jurisdiction: (1) jurisdiction over the class of

cases to which the case belongs, and (2) jurisdictional authority over the property or

res that is the subject of the controversy. Ruth v. Dept. of Legal Affair~ 684 So. 2d

181, 185 (Fla. 1996).

(a) Class of case - jurisdictional parameters defined by Article V Section

5(b), Florida Constitution, implemented by Section 26.012(2)(g), Fla. Stat. (2010).

Alexdex Corp. v. Nachon Enter., Inc., 641 So. 2d 858 (Fla. 1994), (concurrent equity

jurisdiction over lien foreclosures of real property that fall within statutory monetary

limits). lei., at 863.

(b) Jurisdictional authority over real property only in the circuit where the

land is situated. Hammond v. DSY Developer~ LLC, 951 So. 2d 985, 988 (Fla. 2d

DCA 2007). Goedmakers v. Goedmake~ 520 So. 2d 575, 578 (Fla. 1988); (court

lacks in rem jurisdiction over real property located outside the court's circuit). If real

property lies in two counties, the foreclosure suit may be maintained in either county,

however, the notice of sale must be published in both. § 702.04, Fla. Stat. (2010).
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Parties to the Foreclosure Action

Plaintiff

1. Must be the owner/holder of the note as of the date of filing suit. Jeff-Ray

Corp. v. Jacobsen, 566 So. 2d 885 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990); see also, WM Specialty

Mortgage, LLC v. Salomon, 874 So. 2d 680, 682 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004).

(a) The holder of a negotiable instrument means the person in possession of

the instrument payable to bearer or to the identified person in possession. §

671.201(21), Fla. Stat. (2010).

(1) Endorsement in blank - where unsigned and unauthenticated, an original

note is insufficient to establish that the plaintiff is the owner and holder of the note.

Must have affidavits or deposition testimony establishing plaintiff as owner and holder.

Riggs v. Aurora Loan Services, LL~ 2010 WL 1561873 (Fla. 4th DCA 4/21/10).

(b) The holder may be the owner or a nominee, such as a servicer, assignee or

a collection and litigation agent. Rule 1.210(a), Fla. R. Civ. P. (2010) provides that an

action may be prosecuted in the name of an authorized person without joinder of the

party for whose benefit the action is brought. See also, Kumar Corp. v. Nopal Lines,

Ltd., 462 So. 2d 1178, 1184 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985).

(c) Plaintiff's nominee has standing to maintain foreclosure based on real party

in interest rule. Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. v. Revoredo, 955 So.

2d 33 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007), (MERS was the holder by delivery of the note); Mortgage

Elec. Registration System~ Inc. v. Azize, 965 So. 2d 151 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007);

Philogene v. ABN AMRO Mortgage Group, Inc., 948 So. 2d 45 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006).

2. Assignment of note and mortgage - Plaintiff should assert assignee status in

complaint. Absent formal assignment of mortgage or delivery, the mortgage in equity

passes as an incident of the debt. Perry v. Fairbanks Capital Corp., 888 So. 2d 725,

726 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004); Johns v. Gillian, 134 Fla. 575, 579 (Fla. 1938); Warren v.

Seminole Bond & Mortg. Co., 127 Fla. 107 (Fla. 1937), (security follows the note, the

assignee of the note secured by a mortgage is entitled to the benefits of the security).

Assignments must be recorded to be valid against creditors and subsequent
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purchasers. § 701.02, Fla. Stat. (2010). See also, Glynn v. First Union Nat1. San~

912 So. 2d 357, 358 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005).

(a) No requirement of a written and recorded assignment of the mortgage to

maintain foreclosure action where evidence establishes plaintiff as owner and holder

of the note on date of filing suit. Per~ 888 So. 2d at 726; WM Specialty Mortgage,

LL(, 874 So. 2d at 682; Chern. Residential Mortgage v. Rector, 742 So. 2d 300 (Fla.

1st DCA 1998); Clifford v. Eastern Mortg. & Sec. Co., 166 So. 562 (Fla. 1936).

However, the incomplete, unsigned and unauthenticated assignment of mortgage

attached as an exhibit to purported mortgage holder and note holder's response to

motion to dismiss did not constitute admissible summary judgment evidence sufficient

to establish standing. SAC Funding Consortium, Inc. ISAOA/ATIMA v. Jean Jacques,

2010 WL 476641 (Fla. App. 2 DCA Feb. 12, 2010). If plaintiff has an assignment of

mortgage recorded prior to the date of filing suit, then he can enforce even if

possession of note never physically delivered. Florida courts recognize constructive

delivery. "The absence of the note does not make a mortgge unenforceable."

Lawyers Title Ins. Co. Inc v. Novastar Mortgage, Inc., 862 So. 2d 793, 798 (Fla. 4th

DCA 2004). Assignment may be by physical delivery (provide evidence) or by written

assignment.

3. MERS - What is it? Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems is a corporation

which maintains an electronic registry tracking system of servicing and ownership

rights to mortgages throughout the United States. In many cases MERS is the

mortgagee of record and is identified in the mortgage. On each MERS loan there is

an 18 digit number used for tracking. Through the MERS servicer ID number,

homeowners can identify their lender with borrower name and property address.

4. Since the promissory note is a negotiable instrument, plaintiff must present the

original note or give a satisfactory explanation for its absence. § 90.953(1), Fla. Stat.

(2010); State Street Bank and Trust Co. v. Lord, 851 So. 2d 790, 791 (Fla. 4th DCA

2003). A satisfactory explanation includes loss, theft, destruction and wrongful

possession of the note. § 673.3091(1), Fla. Stat. (2010). Reestablishment of the

note is governed by § 673.3091(2), Fla. Stat. (2010).
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Necessary and Proper Defendants

1. The owner of the fee simple title - only indispensable party defendant to a

foreclosure action. English v. Bankers Trust Co. of Calif., N. A., 895 So 2d 1120, 1121

(Fla. 4th DCA 2005). Foreclosure is void if titleholder omitted. Id. If a spouse fails to

sign the mortgage, lender may still foreclose on property owned by husband and wife

when both spouses knew of loan and purchased in joint names. Countrywide Home

Loans v. Kim, 898 So. 2d 250 (Fla. 2005).

(a) Indispensable parties defined - necessary parties so essential to a suit that

no final decision can be rendered without their joinder. Sudhoff v. Federal Nat'l.

Mortgage Assn., 942 So. 2d 425, 427 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006).

2. Failure to join other necessary parties - they remain in the same position as

they were in prior to foreclosure. Abdoney v. York, 903 So. 2d 981, 983 (Fla. 2d DCA

2005).

3. Omitted party - only remedies are to compel redemption or the re-foreclosure

in a suit de novo. Id.; Quinn Plumbing Co. v. New Miami Shores Corp., 129 So. 2d

690, 693 (Fla. 1930).

4. Death of titleholder prior to entry of final judgment - beneficiaries of the

titleholder and the personal representative are indispensable parties. Campbell v.

Napoli, 786 So. 2d 1232 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001).

(a) If indispensable parties not joined, action abated pending proper joinder.

Id. As such, suit against a decedent alone will result in abatement.

(b) Post-judgment death of titleholder, these parties are not deemed

indispensable parties. Davis v. Scott, 120 So. 1 (Fla. 1929).

5. Necessary parties to the foreclosure action - all subordinate interests recorded

or acquired subsequent to the mortgage.

(a) Includes: junior mortgagees, holders of judgments and liens acquired after

the superior mortgage, lessees and tenants/parties in possession of the real property.

Posnansky v. Breckenridge Estates Corp., 621 So. 2d 736, 737 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993);

Commercial Laundries, Inc., v. Golf Course Towers Associates, 568 So. 2d 501, 502
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(b) If junior lien holders are not joined, their rights in the real property survive

the foreclosure action.

(c) Joinder of original parties to the deed or mortgage are essential when a

reformation count is needed to remedy an incorrect legal description contained in the

deed and/or mortgage. Chanrai Inv,/ Inc. v. Clement, 566 So. 2d 838, 840 (Fla. 5th

DCA 1990). As such, the original grantor and grantee are necessary parties in an

action to reform a deed. Id

6. Prior titleholders that signed the note and mortgage do not have to be named

in the foreclosure action unless:

(a) Mortgagee seeks entry of a deficiency judgment against the prior

unreleased mortgagors in the foreclosure action. PMI Ins. Co. v. Cavendar:, 615 So.

2d 710, 711 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993).

Superior Interests

1. First or senior mortgagees are never necessary or proper parties to the

foreclosure action by the junior mortgagee. Garcia v. Stewart, 906 So. 2d 1117, 1119

(Fla. 4th DCA 2005); Poinciana Hotel ofMiami Beach, Inc. v. Kasden, 370 So. 2d 399,

401 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979).

(a) Senior liens are unaffected by the foreclosure of a junior mortgage.

2. Purchase money mortgage defined - proceeds of the loan are used to

acquire the real estate or to construct improvements on the real estate. § 7.2(a),

Restatement (Third) of Property; Mortgages (2008). The purchase and conveyance of

real property occur simultaneously and are given as security for a purchase money

mortgage.

(a) Purchase money mortgages - priority over all prior claims or liens that

attach to the property through the mortgagor, even if latter be prior in time.

BancFlorida v. Hayward, 689 So. 2d 1052, 1054 (Fla. 1997); Sarmiento v. Stockton,

Whatley, Davin & Co., 399 So. 2d 1057, 1058 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981).
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(1) Priority does not extend beyond the amount of the purchase money

advanced. Citibank v. Carteret Sav. Banty F.A., 612 So. 2d 599, 601 (Fla. 4th DCA

1992).

Association Liens and Assessments

1. Condominium Associations - Section 718.116(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (2010)

establishes the liability of the first mortgagee, its successor or purchaser for

condominium assessments and maintenance as the lesser of:

(a) unit's unpaid common expenses and regular periodic assessments which

came due 6 months prior to title acquisition; or

(b) one per cent of the original mortgage debt (provided condominium

association is joined as a defendant).

(1) The law is clear that the purchaser of a condominium unit has liability for

unpaid condominium assessments. § 718.1176, Fla. Stat (2010). This statutory cap,

limits the liability of foreclosing mortgagees for unpaid condominium assessments that

become due prior to acquisition of title. This safe harbor applies only to the first

mortgagee or a subsequent holder of the first mortgage. Bay Holding~ Inc. v. 2000

Island Boulevard Condo. Assn., 895 So. 2d 1197 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005. The term

"successor or assignee" as used with respect to a first mortgagee includes only a

subsequent holder of the first mortgage. § 718.116(1)(g), Fla. Stat. (2010). Other

entities that acquire title are not entitled to this limitation of liability and are "jointly

and severally liable for all unpaid assessments that come due up to the time of

transfer of title." § 718. 116(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (2010).

2. Homeowners' Association's - Section 720.3085(2)(c)(1), Fla. Stat. (2010)

establishes the liability of the first mortgagee, its successor or purchaser for

homeowner's assessments and maintenance as the lesser of:

(a) parcel's unpaid common expenses and regular periodic or special

assessments which accrued 12 months prior to acquisition of title; or

(b) one per cent of the original mortgage debt.

(c) Homeowners' Association's lien for assessments had priority over purchase

money mortgage where Association's declaration of covenants contained express
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provision establishing priority. Assn. of Poinciana Vi/I. v. Avatar Props., 724 So. 2d

585, 587 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999).

(d) The limitations on the first mortgagee's liability only apply if the lender filed

suit and initially joined the homeowner's association as a defendant. §

720.3085(2)(c), Fla. Stat. (2010).

(e) Statutory revisions of the 2008 Legislature failed to remedy the potential

super-priority of liens recorded prior to July 1, 2008. (Prior statutory version

amended by the 2007 Legislature gave homeowner's association liens a priority, even

if the mortgage was filed first in time.) Arguably, many homeowners' associations

have subordination language in their declaration of covenants providing that their lien

is subordinate to the mortgage. However, the subordination language is not standard

in all declarations. Any challenge to the priority if the mortgage will likely be resolved

on the basis of impairment of contract.

3. "Reverse foreclosures" defined - where association takes title and pursues

lender or where association sets done the motion for summary judgment due to

delays by lenders.

4. Cannot force lenders to pay association fees during pendency of foreclosure.

U. S. Bank Nat1. Assn. as Trustee v. Tadmore, 2009 WL 4281301 (Fla. 3d DCA

12/2/09).

Judgment Liens

1. Section 55.10(1), Fla. Stat. (2010) applies to judgment liens.

(a) Requirements: (1) must contain address of the party in the judgment or in

an accompanying affidavit; and (2) a certified copy of judgment lien must be recorded

in the official records of the county.

(b) Judgment liens recorded after July 1, 1994 retain their judgment lien status

for a period of 10 years from recording. A judgment lien is renewable by recording a

certified copy of the judgment containing a current address prior to the expiration of

the judgment lien. § 55.10(2), Fla. Stat. (2010).
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Filing of the Lis Pendens

1. Filing of lis pendens - cuts off the rights of any person whose interest arises

after filing. Bowers v. Pearson, 135 So. 562 (Fla. 1931).

(a) Constitutes bar to the enforcement against the subject real property of any

other unrecorded interests and liens unless the holder of the unrecorded interest

intervenes within twenty days of the notice of the lis pendens. § 48.23(1)(b), Fla.

Stat. (2010).

2. Validity of a notice of lis pendens is one year from filing. § 48.23(2), Fla. Stat.

(2010).

(a) Exception: One year period may be tolled by the trial court's exercise of

discretion or appellate review. O/esh v. Greenberg, 978 So. 2d 238, 242 (Fla. 5th DCA

2008); Vonmitschke-Co//ande v. Kramer, 841 So. 2d 481, 482 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002).

3. Lis pendens automatically dissolved upon dismissal of foreclosure. Rule

1.420(f), Fla. R. Civ. P. (2010).

(a) Lis pendens revived or reinstated upon the reversal of dismissal.

Vonmitschke-Co//ande, 841 So. 2d at 482.

The Foreclosure Complaint

1. Florida Supreme Court Form for foreclosure - Form 1.944, Fla. R. Civ. P.

(2010). Requisite allegations assert: jurisdiction, default, acceleration and the legal

description of the real property. As of 2/11/10, complaint must be verified. Rule

1.110(b), Fla. R. Civ. P. (2010).

(a) Plaintiff must allege that he is the present owner and holder of the note

and mortgage. Edason v. Cent Farmers Trust Co., 129 So. 698, 700 (Fla. 1930).

(b) If plaintiff is a nonresident corporation, it must comply with the condition

precedent of filing a nonresident bond, upon commencement of the action. § 57.011,

Fla. Stat. (2010). If plaintiff has failed to file the requisite bond within 30 days after

commencement, the defendant may move for dismissal (after 20 days notice to

plaintiff).
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(c) Rule 1.130(a), Fla. R. Civ. P. (2010) mandates that a copy of the note and

mortgage be attached to the complaint. Eigen v. FDI~ 492 So. 2d 826 (Fla. 2d DCA

1986).

(d) If note and mortgage assigned, complaint should allege assignment.

Attachment of the assignment is preferred but may not be required since the cause of

action is based on the mortgage; not the assignment. Rule 1.130(a), Fla. R. Civ. P.

(2010), WM Specialty Mortgage, LLC v. Salomon, 874 So. 2d 680, 682 (Fla. 4th DCA

2004); Chemical Residential Mortgage v. Recto~ 742 So. 2d 300 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998);

Johns v. Gillian, 184 So. 140,144 (Fla. 1938).

(e) Junior lien holders - allegation is sufficient if it states that the interest of a

defendant accrued subsequent to the mortgage and he is a proper party. InterNat'l.

Kaolin Co. v. Vause, 46 So. 3, 7 (Fla. 1908).

(f) Federal tax lien allegation must state interest of the United States of

America, including: the name and address of the taxpayer, the date and place the tax

lien was filed, the identity of the Internal Revenue office which filed the tax lien and if

a notice of tax lien was filed. Title 28 U. S. C. § 2410(b). A copy of the tax lien

must be attached as an exhibit.

(g) Local taxing authority or State of Florida party defendant - allegation

should state with particularity the nature of the interest in the real property. §

69.041(2), Fla. Stat. (2010).

(h) Complaint must include statement of default. Default based on unpaid

taxes or insurance must be allege default with particularity. Siahpoosh v. Nor Props.,

666 So. 2d 988, 989 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996).

(i) Complaint should allege compliance with condition precedent, particularly

notices.

U) Legal description of the subject real property.

(k) Attorney fees - must be pled or it is waived. Stockman v. Downs, 573 So.

2d 835, 838 (Fla. 1991). Allegation as to obligation to pay a reasonable attorney fee

is sufficient to claim entitlement. Wallace v. Gage, 150 So. 799, 800 (Fla. 1933). The

claim of attorney fees is based on contractual language in the note and mortgage.
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